Pierce County #14-1-03750-5

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KEVIN A. RIVERA.

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable John R. Hickman, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK, No. 23879 Counsel for Appellant

> RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE Post Office Box 31017 Seattle, Washington 98103 (206) 782-3353

1.	Procedural Facts
2.	Testimony at trial
ARGI	<u>UMENT</u> 7
 2. 	THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED REPEATED FLAGRANT, PREJUDICIAL AND ILL-INTENTIONED MISCONDUCT AT TRIAL AND IN CLOSING WHICH CANNOT BE DEEMED HARMLESS, THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF WHICH DEPRIVED RIVERA OF A FAIR TRIAL
CON	<u>CLUSION</u>
	ISSU! STAT 1. 2. ARG! 1.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT
State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 745 P.2d 12 (1987
<u>State v. Bowerman</u> , 115 Wn.2d 794, 802 P.2d 116 (1990), <u>dissapproved of in part and on other grounds by</u> , <u>State v. Condon</u> , 182 Wn.2d 307, 343 P.3d 357 (2015)
<u>State v. Byrd</u> , 125 Wn.2d 707, 887 P.2d 396 (1995)9
State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984)
State v. Demery, 144 Wn2d 753, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001)
State v. Dolan, 118 Wn. App. 323, 73 P.3d 1101 (2003)
State v. Elmi, 166 Wn.2d 209, 207 P.3d 439 (2009)
State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 705 P.2d 1182 (1984)
<u>State v. Hendrickson</u> , 129 Wn.2d 61, 917 P.2d 563 (1996), <u>overruled in part and on other grounds by</u> , <u>Cary v. Musladin</u> , 549 U.S. 70, 127 S. Ct. 649, 166 L. Ed. 2d 483 (2006)
State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918,155 P.3d 125 (2007)
State v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 889 P.2d 929 (1994)
State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 257 P.3d 551 (2001)
State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 183 P.3d 267 (2005)
State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471, 496, 14 P.3d 713 (2
WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS
Bruett v. Real Property Known as 18328 11 th Ave. N.E., 93 Wn. App. 290, 968 P.2d 913 (1998)
<u>City of Walla Walla v. \$401.333.44</u> , Wn. App, P.3d (Oct. 6, 2011) (2011 WL 4599653) 24
Espinoza v. City of Everett, 87 Wn. App. 857, 943 P.2d 387 (1997),

<u>review</u> <u>denied</u> , 134 Wn.2d 1016 (1998)
<u>Smith v. Mount</u> , 45 Wn. App. 623, 726 P.2d 474, <u>review denied</u> , 107 Wn.2d 1016 (1986)
<u>State v. Abuan</u> , 161 Wn. App. 135, 257 P.3d 1 (2011)
<u>State v. Alaway</u> , 64 Wn. App. 796, 828 P.2d 591, <u>review denied</u> , 119 Wn.2d 1016 (1992)
State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 585 P.2d 142 (1978)
State v. Esters, 84 Wn. App. 180, 927 P.2d 1140 (1996) 9, 10
State v. Farr-Lenzini, 93 Wn. App. 453, 970 P.2d 313 (1999) 12
State v. Hale, 94 Wn. App. 46, 971 P.3d 88 (1999)
State v. Hall, 104 Wn. App. 56, 14 P.3d 884 (2000)
State v. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010)
<u>State v. Jones</u> , 71 Wn. App. 798, 863 P.2d 85 (1993), <u>review denied</u> , 124 Wn.2d 1018 (1994)
State v. Keend, 140 Wn. App. 858, 166 P.3d 1268 (2007)
<u>State v. Moses</u> , 109 Wn. App. 718, 119 P.3d 906 (2005), <u>review denied</u> , 157 Wn.2d 1006 (2006)
State v. Roberts, 185 Wn. App. 94, 339 P.3d 995 (2014) 1, 2
State v. Romero, 113 Wn. App. 779, 65 P.3d 1255 (2005) 16, 17
State v. Suarez-Bravo, 72 Wn. App. 359, 864 P.2d 426 (1994) 8
<u>State v. Zimmer</u> , 146 Wn. App. 405, 190 P.3d 121 (2008), <u>review denied</u> , 165 Wn.2d 1035 (2009)
FEDERAL AND OTHER STATE CASELAW
Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L.Ed. 2d 1314 (1935), overruled in part and on other grounds by Stirone v. United States, 361 U.S. 212, 80 S. Ct. 270, 4 L. Ed. 2d 252 (1960
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104 S. Ct. 2052

<u>United States v. Gonzalez-Balderas</u> , 11 F.3d 1218 (5 th Cir.), <u>cert. denied</u> , 511 U.S. 1129 (1997)
<u>United States v. Pine</u> , 609 F.2d 106 (3 rd Cit. 1979
RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
Art. 1, § 21
Article 1, § 22
CrR 2.3(e)
ER 70411
RCW 10.105.010
RCW 69.50.505
RCW 9.46.231
RCW 9.92.100
RCW 9.92.110
RCW 9A.36.011(1)(c)
RCW 9A.36.021(1)
RCW 9A.46.020(1)
RCW 9A.46.0202)
RCW 9A.48.090(1)(a)
RCW 9A.48.090(2)
RCW 9A.83.030
Sixth Amend
Sixth Amendment 1

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The prosecutor repeatedly committed flagrant, prejudicial misconduct in misstating crucial law and eliciting highly irrelevant, improper opinion testimony which cannot be deemed "harmless."
- 2. The cumulative effect of the misconduct deprived appellant Kevin Rivera of his due process rights to a fair trial by an impartial jury.
- 3. In the event the misconduct could have been cured by objection and instruction, Rivera was deprived of his Sixth Amendment and Article 1, § 22, rights to effective assistance of appointed counsel.
- The sentencing court erred in ordering forfeiture of property without statutory authority and in violation of RCW 9.92.110. This Court's decision in State v. Roberts, 185 Wn. App. 94, 339 P.3d 995 (2014), controls.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Mr. Rivera was accused of assaulting the victim by punching his fist through the driver's side window of her car and striking her in the face with his fist. He maintained that the car window had shattered accidentally when his fingers hit the edge as he threw papers into the car.
 - a. Did the prosecutor commit flagrant, prejudicial misconduct, misstate the law and mislead the jury about his burden of proof?
 - b. Did the prosecutor commit further flagrant, prejudicial misconduct in repeatedly asking witnesses for improper opinion testimony on Mr. Rivera's guilt, veracity or credibility and the veracity and credibility of the prosecution's witnesses?
 - c. Was counsel prejudicially ineffective in failing to object to the prosecutor's repeated misstatements of the law and the improper opinion testimony where the errors went directly to the heart of the prosecution's claims and the only disputed issues at trial and those failures prejudiced his client?
- 2. RCW 9.92.110 eliminated the doctrine of "forfeiture by conviction," under which the government had the authority

to seize and forfeit a man's property solely because he was convicted of a crime. Further, a sentencing court has no inherent authority to order forfeiture of property.

In <u>Roberts</u>, this Court specifically rejected the same general order of forfeiture as that entered in this case. Did the sentencing court err and act outside its statutory authority in ordering forfeiture?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

Appellant Kevin Rivera was charged by amended information in Pierce County Superior Court with second-degree assault, felony harassment and third-degree malicious mischief for the same incident. CP 9-10; RCW 9A.36.021(1); RCW 9A.46.020(1); RCW 9A.46.0202); RCW 9A.48.090(1)(a); RCW 9A.48.090(2). Pretrial motions and a jury trial were held before the Honorable John R. Hickman on February 9-12, 2015. The jury acquitted Mr. Rivera of the harassment charge but convicted him of the assault and harassment counts. CP 66-68.

On March 13, 2015, Judge Hickman ordered Rivera to serve a standard-range sentence. CP 69-81. Rivera appealed and this pleading follows. See CP 87.

2. Testimony at trial

Pierce County Sheriff's Department (PCSD) Deputy Montgomery Minion and his partner, Jonathon Collins, responded to a call at about 10

¹The verbatim report of proceedings in this case consists of will be referred to herein as follows:

the chronologically paginated proceedings of February 9, 10, 11 and March 13, 2014, as "RP:"

the separately paginated proceedings of February 12, 2014, as "2RP."

in the morning on September 20, 2014, from a woman who was at a store in Ashford. RP 111-14. The woman reported an alleged assault and damage to her car, which she said had occurred when she went to serve civil paperwork at the home of a man named Kevin Rivera. RP 109-110, 143-45.

When the officers arrived at the store, the woman, later identified as Alicia Clements, was getting help from paramedics and had a bandage and some dried blood on her face. RP 119-21. She also removed her bandage to show the officers severe scrapes and scratches. RP 119-21, 133, 147, 149.

Clements pointed the officers to the broken driver's side window of her car. RP 122. Inside an officer saw some crumpled up paper that Clements said were the documents she had served on the Rivera home. RP 123, 148. Clements told the officers Rivera had hit and broken her driver's side window and thrown the papers in her car, hurting her in the process. RP 123, 148.

Clements was not the only person who called the police that day. RP 135, 163, 2RP 58-59. Rivera also called, with a different view of the events. RP 135, 163, 2RP 58-59. He told the police emergency operator that he had an intruder on his property and that he thought she had gotten cut when her driver's side window broke. RP 135, 163, 2RP 58-59.

The officers took Clements to Mr. Rivera's home, about 2 miles away. RP 126, 134, 136. Rivera, his wife and son came outside. RP 127-29, 152. Rivera met the officers at the gate, and Deputy Minion admitted that Rivera greeted them appropriately and was calm. RP 127-29, 137,

Deputy Minion asked Rivera to tell him "a little bit about what happened today." RP 137-38. The officer also asked Rivera to come outside the gate. RP 137-38. Rivera complied and told the officers that someone had just been there trespassing. RP 127-28, 137-38. Minion noted there were some glass fragments on the road and asked if Rivera had broken the window on Clements' car. RP 128, 137-38.

Rivera then reported seeing Clements arrive, put some paperwork on his post and walk away. RP 130. He described grabbing the paperwork from the post and going to the woman's car, telling her she was trespassing and needed to leave. RP 130. Clements was rolling up the window when Rivera went to return the documents to her and his fingertips hit the glass, causing it to break. RP 130-31.

Alicia Clements testified about driving by Rivera's house first, getting her paperwork ready, then turning back around. 2RP 14. She stopped her car in the middle of the road, planning to go post the foreclosure documents she was serving that day on a pole beside the driveway. 2RP 14. When she got out of her car, Clements said, a "male and female" came out of the house and started yelling. 2RP 15.

Clements yelled back, saying she did not work for the bank and just had to put the notice of default and foreclosure up and take two photos, then would be "gone." 2RP 16. According to Clements, the man and woman responded, "[y]ou are not doing that" and "[i]f you don't get the fuck out of here, we are going to kill you." 2RP 15-16, 36.

Indeed, Clements claimed that, throughout the entire incident,

Rivera was constantly shouting threats. 2RP 43-44. Clements admitted, however, that she never told the emergency operator anything about threats when she called police to report he incident that day. 2RP 44. Clements also claimed that something was thrown her direction and hit a nearby metal fence, scaring her. 2RP 21-22.

Clements went back to her car quickly. 2RP 37. She had left the door open and the window at least partially rolled down but claimed she had it completely rolled back up when Rivera got over to her car. 2RP 23-24, 32-34. Clements would later testify that Rivera then came "through the window with both fists" with the papers in his hands, at which point her window "just shattered." 2RP 23-24.

At trial, Clements claimed she had been hit in the forehead, twice, by Rivera's right fist. 2RP 24-25, 41-42. Clements said Rivera was "all the way in" the window, screaming he was going to find her and kill her and telling her to "get the fuck out of here." 2RP 25.

Initially, Deputy Minion also testified that Clements had reported to him that Rivera had struck her with his fist. 2RP 138. When the officer checked his report, however, he conceded that she had not said anything about his fist contacting her at all. 2RP 139. In fact, what she had told the officer the day of the incident was just that she was "struck in the face, and glass flew in her face and eyes," not that he struck her in the face with his fist. 2RP 138-39.

Clements said that getting the car in gear and start to move "had him out of my window." 2RP 29-30. But she also said she turned on her hazard lights and drove very slowly away, riding on the shoulder until she

could get her cellular telephone to connect so she could call police. 2RP 29-30.

Clements detailed her injuries, which included having glass in her eye and blurry vision for a few weeks, as well as scratches on her face.

2RP 28. She did not have permanent injury. 2RP 28.

Kevin Rivera testified that he was in the backyard with his wife splitting wood when he noticed someone walking outside his fence and a red car parked out front. 2RP 55-56. He walked up to ask what the person was doing but the woman got back into her car, made a "u-turn" in his neighbor's driveway, then backed up and pulled up in front of where he was standing at a post. 2RP 56. Clements had her window rolled down as she pulled up and she said something about "you got served," also "talking smack." 2RP 57.

Rivera turned around and said, "I didn't get served, you served the post. When you learn how to serve somebody right, come back." 2RP 57. He then crumpled up the papers and threw them in the open window. 2RP 57. As he did so, Rivera said, the tips of his fingers hit the edge of the window and the window just "blew up." 2RP 57. Rivera got cut on the tips of his fingers as a result. 2RP 57, 72.

Rivera freely admitted he told Clements to "get the 'F' out of here" when he spoke to her that day. 2RP 57-58. He was clear, however, that he did not strike Clements in the face. 2RP 57-58. Nor did he threaten to kill her or anything similar. 2RP 60.

Rivera also said he was not angry with Clements because she was serving foreclosure papers that day. 2RP 61. While he was affected by it,

he said, "[g]etting upset is going to do you no good." 2RP 63, 69-70.

On cross-examination, Rivera admitted that trying to throw the documents back into Clements' car was "a pretty stupid thing to do." 2RP 70-71. But Rivera was clear that it was an accident that he broke the window by slamming up against the top of it as it was coming up. 2RP 71.

Rivera knew that Clements had gotten injured and felt terrible that had happened. 2RP 73-74. He conceded that he had broken her window and she had sustained injuries as a result. 2RP 75. He also agreed that he "intentionally meant" to throw the paperwork back into the car. 2RP 75.

Police did not interview Rivera's wife, even though she was a potential witness to the alleged assault. RP 164-65. Charlotte Rivera said she saw her husband take the papers from the post, heard him tell the woman,"[n]ext time you want to serve somebody, serve them right," and watched as he threw the papers in the car. 2RP 82.

Mrs. Rivera conceded that she and her husband were a little angry with how Clements was behaving but was clear she never saw her husband strike Clements and never heard him threaten to kill her, either. 2RP 82-83, 91-92. She was sure that Clements was still rolling up her window when the glass broke. 2RP 82-83.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED REPEATED FLAGRANT, PREJUDICIAL AND ILL-INTENTIONED MISCONDUCT AT TRIAL AND IN CLOSING WHICH CANNOT BE DEEMED HARMLESS, THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF WHICH DEPRIVED RIVERA OF A FAIR TRIAL

Because of their unique role in our justice system, prosecutors are

endowed with "quasi-judicial" status. Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L.Ed. 2d 1314 (1935), overruled in part and on other grounds by Stirone v. United States, 361 U.S. 212, 80 S. Ct. 270, 4 L. Ed. 2d 252 (1960); State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 664-65, 585 P.2d 142 (1978). This requires them to meet a higher standard; to act with an eye not to "win" but instead to do justice and seek a conviction based solely upon proper, constitutional grounds. See, State v. Suarez-Bravo, 72 Wn. App. 359, 367, 864 P.2d 426 (1994). Only with a fair trial can we be confident that our system has worked and guilt properly decided. See State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 763, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984). And a prosecutor's misconduct may deprive a defendant of a fair trial. See id; see, State v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 838, 889 P.2d 929 (1994); Sixth Amend.; Art. 1, § 21.

As a result, a prosecutor has a special duty to maintain their integrity, despite the heat of the moment, steering wide from unfair trial tactics. See State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676-77, 257 P.3d 551 (2001); State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 684 P.2d 699 (1984).

In this case, the prosecutor fell far short of these duties and committed misconduct both at trial and in closing argument.

At the outset, it is important to note that the different types of misconduct below all went to the only issue in the case - whether the prosecution proved that Rivera had the required intent for second-degree assault. There was no dispute that Rivera had broken the driver's side car window. The only real question was whether that was accidental or, as the state claimed, part of his intentional assault on Clements.

Rivera was charged with second-degree assault under RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a). CP 9-10.² Because "assault" is not defined by statute, Washington courts rely on the common law definition. State v. Byrd, 125 Wn.2d 707, 712, 887 P.2d 396 (1995). There are three such definitions: 1) an intentional "unlawful touching" (actual battery), 2) an attempt with unlawful force to "inflict bodily injury upon another, tending but failing to accomplish it" (attempted battery) and 3) intentionally placing another in reasonable apprehension of harm (making afraid). State v. Elmi, 166 Wn.2d 209, 215, 207 P.3d 439 (2009).

The state bears a different proof of "intent" depending on which type of assault is alleged. See, e.g., Byrd, 125 Wn.2d at 713; State v.

Abuan, 161 Wn. App. 135, 257 P.3d 1 (2011). Where, as here, the state alleges assault by actual battery, the state is claiming that the defendant engaged in an intentional touching or striking or another person which was harmful or offensive. See State v. Esters, 84 Wn. App. 180, 184-85, 927 P.2d 1140 (1996). The relevant statutes then assign degrees of the crime in general based upon the type of harm caused by that actual battery, so that a person who, with intent to inflict great bodily harm, assaults another and inflicts great bodily harm is guilty of first-degree assault. See RCW 9A.36.011(1)(c). As charged here, it is second-degree assault occurs when a defendant "[i]ntentionally assaults another and thereby recklessly inflicts

CP 9.

²The amended information provided, in relevant part:

That KEVIN ALBERT RIVERA, in the State of Washington, on or about the 20th day of September, 2014, did unlawfully and feloniously, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first degree, intentionally assault A.K. Clements, and thereby recklessly inflict substantial bodily harm[.]

substantial bodily harm." RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a).

Regardless of the degree, however, to prove assault by actual battery, the prosecution is required to prove that the defendant intended the touching or striking of the other person. See Esters, 84 Wn. App. at 185; see also, State v. Hall, 104 Wn. App. 56, 62, 14 P.3d 884 (2000); State v. Keend, 140 Wn. App. 858, 166 P.3d 1268 (2007).

Here that intent was the disputed issue for the assault. Rivera admitted to breaking the window but said it was an accident and that his hand never touched Clements' face. Thus, he denied both that an actual battery had occurred and that he had the required intent.

In trying to prove to the contrary, the prosecutor resorted to three different bouts of misconduct: eliciting improper opinion testimony, misstating crucial law on the issue of intent and further misleading the jury as to its proper role. Starting with improper opinion testimony, it is the "exclusive province" of the jury to decide guilt. State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). This is because the state and federal rights to a fair trial before an impartial jury include the right to have the jury serve as the "sole judge" of the credibility of witnesses, as well as the weight their testimony should enjoy. Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 838 (quotations omitted); Sixth Amend.; Art. 1, § 21.

It is therefore improper for a witness to testify in a way which conveys an opinion about the defendant's guilt, veracity or credibility.

³In contrast, for the attempted battery and apprehension definitions of assault, "specific intent either to create apprehension of bodily harm or to cause bodily harm is an essential element of assault in the second degree." <u>Byrd</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 713.

State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 591-94, 183 P.3d 267 (2005). Nor may she opoine about the veracity or credibility of another witness. Id.

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