NO. 47326-7

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

KEVIN ALBERT RIVERA, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable John R. Hickman, Judge

No. 14-1-03750-5

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
THOMAS C. ROBERTS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 17442

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

Statements which plainly indicate a witness's opinion regarding whether a defendant is guilty are improper opinion testimony. See *State v. Jones*, 71 Wn. App. 798, 813, 863, P.2d 85 (1993), *review denied*, 124 Wn.2d 1018, 881 P.2d 254 (1994) (Witness's statement she believed the defendant molested A. was improper opinion on the guilt of the

defendant). Unlike in *Jones*, Officer Minion did not make statements regarding whether he believed defendant was guilty, he simply commented on what he observed and the facts presented to him.

Officer Minion's opinions and inferences drawn from facts were rationally based on his observations of Ms. Clements and from statements made by both Ms. Clements and defendant. His testimony was helpful to the jury in that it could assist them in determining the facts at issue in this case.

b. Ms. Clements' statements during testimony were proper.

Ms. Clements' opinion that the defendant's actions appeared to be intentional was rationally based on her perception of defendant's demeanor, statements, and behavior. Defendant yelled at Ms. Clements to "get the fuck out of here. If you don't get the fuck out of here, we are going to kill you." 2/12/15RP 16. Ms. Clements heard something thrown in her direction. 2/12/15RP 21. She saw defendant rip the documents she had posted off of the post. 2/12/15RP 23. While Ms. Clements was in the driver's seat of her car, defendant came through the side window with both of his fists, one of which had the documents she had posted, and shattered the window. 2/12/15RP 23. Defendant's right fist struck the left side of Ms. Clements' face. 2/12/15RP 24-25. From all of these factual observations, Ms. Clements' inferred the actions were done on purpose. Additionally, the prosecutor's question, "*Based upon what you observed*

of the defendant's conduct directed toward you, did you consider, and did his behavior and actions *appear* to be intentional from what you could see?" (emphasis added) is clearly phrased to elicit only an opinion rationally based on Ms. Clements' perceptions which was helpful to the jury in assessing Ms. Clements' frame of mind at the time of the incident. 2/12/15RP 31.

It was Ms. Clements' perception that because her window was all the way up and based on the defendant's threatening statements and actions leading up to and when he shattered the window, that defendant did not burst through the glass and strike her accidentally.

- c. The prosecutor's reference to the law and jury instructions in closing was proper.

It is improper for a prosecutor to misstate the law to the jury. *State v. Swanson*, 181 Wn. App. 953, 959, 327 P.3d 67 (2014). The State had to prove that defendant intentionally assaulted another and thereby recklessly inflicted substantial bodily harm. RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a); CP 53. Intent is statutorily defined as "[A] person acts with intent or intentionally when he or she acts with the objective or purpose to accomplish a result which constitutes a crime." RCW 9A.08.010(1)(a); CP 55. The jury was instructed on the definition of assault as follows:

An assault is an intentional touching or striking of another person with unlawful force, that is harmful or offensive. A touching or striking would offend an ordinary person who is not unduly sensitive.

An assault is also an act, with unlawful force, done with the intent to create in another apprehension and fear of bodily injury, and which in fact creates in another a reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury even though the actor did not actually intend to inflict bodily injury.

CP 51.

The prosecutor referenced the jury instruction on the definition of assault in her closing argument. 2/12/15RP 117. The prosecutor's statement, "it is offensive touching," tracked the language of the jury instruction. The prosecutor gave examples of offensive touching when she stated "[b]eing hit, slugged, touched or anything of that nature as described in this particular case is offensive and amounts to the assault as defined in your instruction..." 2/12/15RP 117.

The prosecutor correctly stated the law in her closing argument when she tracked the language of the statutory definition of assault and referred jurors to the jury instructions.

d. The prosecutor's arguments during closing were proper.

Although prosecutors may not give a personal opinion on the credibility of witnesses during closing arguments, they may argue inferences from the evidence. *State v. Copeland*, 130 Wn.2d 244, 290-91, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996). That includes inferences as to why the jury should believe one witness over another, including the defendant. *Id.* A prosecutor arguing credibility only commits misconduct when it is clear

that they are expressing a personal opinion rather than arguing an inference from the evidence. *Id.* at 290. “[T]here is a distinction between the individual opinion of the prosecuting attorney, as an independent fact, and an opinion based upon or deduced from the testimony in the case.” *State v. McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d 44, 53, 134 P.3d 221 (2006) (quoting *State v. Armstrong*, 37 Wash. 51, 54-55, 79 P.490 (1905)).

Asking the jury to decide whom they believe does not rise to the level of misstating the law or misrepresenting the role of the jury. *State v. Lewis*, 156 Wn. App. 230, 241, 233 P.3d 891 (2010). In *Lewis*, the prosecutor asked the jury, “[D]o you believe that Mr. Crocker isn’t telling you the whole story or do you believe that the defendant is fudging on the story?” *Id.* The court in that case held that argument was neither misconduct nor flagrant and ill-intentioned. *Id.* at 242.

Similarly to *Lewis*, the prosecutor in this case asked the jury to decide if they “believe the fact this was an accident, or do you believe that window shattered into a million pieces because he touched it with his fingertips?” 2/12/15RP 113. The prosecutor was simply asking the jury who they believe, which witness they find credible. This is the role of the jury. Further, the jury is reminded by the court in the jury instructions of this very fact. CP 44.

- e. Even if the court were to find the prosecutor erred in any of the instances where defense counsel failed to object, defendant is still unable to show prejudice given the number of times the jury was reminded and instructed on the law.

Where defendant fails to object at trial, defendant on appeal must establish the prosecutor's conduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it caused an "enduring and resulting prejudice" that cannot be cured by a jury instruction. *State v. Sakellis*, 164 Wn. App. 170, 184, 269 P.3d 1029 (2011). "Objections are required not only to prevent counsel from making additional improper remarks, but also to prevent potential abuse of the appellate process." *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). The focus should be placed more on whether the alleged error resulted in prejudice that cannot be cured by an instruction, and less on whether the error was flagrant or ill-intentioned. *Id.* at 762. To show prejudice, the defendant must show a substantial likelihood that the alleged improper statements affected the jury's verdict. *Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d at 578 (quoting *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 672, 904 P.2d 245 (1995)).

Defendant did not object to statements made by the prosecutor and testimony from the State's witnesses that defendant now, on appeal, argues are improper. 3RP 131; 2/12/15RP 31-32, 108, 113, 116-17, 123, 139, 141-42; Brief of App. 12-15, 18-20. Instead, defense counsel chose to

address the State's argument and witness testimony in his own closing.

(See argument in section two.)

The jury in this case was correctly instructed as follows:

You are the sole judges of the credibility of each witness. You are also the sole judges of the value or weight to be given to the testimony of each witness. In considering a witness's testimony, you may consider these things: the opportunity of the witness to observe or know the things he or she testifies about; the ability of the witness to observe accurately; the quality of the witness's memory while testifying; . . . the reasonableness of the witness's statements in the context of all of the other evidence.

CP 44. The jury was also correctly instructed to disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law in the court's instructions. *Id.* A jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions. *State v. Lamar*, 180 Wn.2d 576, 586, 327 P.3d 46 (2014). Any prejudice resulting from the prosecutor's statements or witness testimony would be minimized by these instructions. *See State v. Perkins*, 97 Wn. App. 453, 460, 983 P.2d 1177 (1999) (holding any prejudice from prosecutor's argument that the amount of drugs found on the defendant is an amount unlikely to be left unattended was minimized by jury instructions to disregard remarks unsupported by evidence).

An instruction could have been given to the jury reminding them, as previously instructed, that they are the sole judges of the credibility of the witnesses and to only rely on the evidence and law as instructed by the court, thereby curing any error.

2. DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW DEFENSE COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT AND THAT DEFENDANT WAS PREJUDICED BY DEFICIENCY.

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel arises from a defendant's right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. See *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 685-87, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). The purpose of examination of counsel's performance is to ensure that criminal defendants receive a fair trial. *Id.* at 684. To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that the defendant was prejudiced by the deficient performance. *In re Crace*, 174 Wn.2d 835, 840, 280 P.3d 1102 (2012) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 668).

The standard of review for effective assistance of counsel is whether, after examining the whole record, the court can conclude that defendant received effective representation and a fair trial. *State v. Ciskie*, 110 Wn.2d 263, 284, 751 P.2d 1165 (1988). "The defendant alleging ineffective assistance of counsel 'must show in the record the absence of legitimate strategic or tactical reasons supporting the challenged conduct by counsel.'" *In re Personal Restraint of Elmore*, 162 Wn.2d 236, 252-53, 172 P.3d 335 (2007) (quoting *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 336, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)).

There is a strong presumption that counsel provided adequate assistance and “made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonably professional judgment.” *State v. Strange*, 188 Wn. App. 679, 688, 354 P.3d 917 (2015) (quoting *State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 883, 822 P.2d 177 (1991)). The presumption of counsel’s competence can be overcome by showing counsel failed to conduct appropriate investigations, adequately prepare for trial, or subpoena necessary witnesses. *Ciskie*, 110 Wn.2d at 284. Failure to object to the State’s comments during closing arguments generally does not constitute deficient performance because it is uncommon to object during closing arguments “absent egregious misstatements.” *In re Cross*, 180 Wn.2d 664, 721, 327 P.3d 660 (2014) (quoting *In re Pers. Restraint of Davis*, 152 Wn.2d 647, 717, 101 P.3d 1 (2004)).

Deficient performance prejudices a defendant when there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different if not for counsel’s errors. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 335.

When the record is viewed as a whole, counsel’s performance was far from deficient. During the State’s case in chief, defense counsel thoroughly cross examined all of the State’s witnesses, pointing out any inconsistencies in testimony. 3RP 134-39, 159-65; 2/12/15RP 32-45. During cross examination of Officer Minion, defense counsel specifically asked how Officer Minion would characterize defendant’s demeanor and

called into question Ms. Clements' account of events given to Officer Minion. 3RP 138-39. After the State rested, defense counsel called two witnesses to testify on defendant's behalf, defendant and his wife. 2/12/15RP 53-60, 80-85. Additionally, defense counsel objected numerous times to testimony produced by the State's witnesses and at one point even indicated he purposely waited to object to one of Officer Minion's statements to see what the next statement would be. 3RP 112-13, 126, 133, 141, 158; 2/12/15RP 24, 27, 31.

Furthermore, defense counsel's decision not to object during the State's case in chief beyond the objections defense counsel did make or during the State's closing argument was likely part of a larger trial strategy. Defense counsel probably recognized the State's argument was proper and the statements made during Officer Minion's and Ms. Clements' testimony were proper. Also, he may have chosen not to object in order to challenge the State's argument in his own closing. He said:

This case is about the State proving, beyond a reasonable doubt in Jury Instruction 11, "a person acts with intent or intentionally when acting with the objective or purpose to accomplish the result that constitutes *the* [sic] crime." . . . His intent was not to assault that woman. He did something incredibly stupid. He might have been reckless in doing it. He might have been negligent in doing it.

2/12/15RP 127. (emphasis added). It is likely defense counsel, in misstating the jury instruction on intent from "constitutes *a* crime" to "constitutes *the* crime" was strategically shifting the focus from defendant

intending to assault Ms. Clements to recklessly or negligently breaking the car window. Additionally, defense counsel in closing argument called into question the credibility of the State's witnesses. He stated:

Now the State's theory is that he (defendant) became suddenly enraged when he learned this notice was posted. I would submit to you there is just no evidence of that at all. It is not supported by what we know.

He (Officer Minion) assumed. That's not what she (Ms. Clements) told him. . . . (Ms. Clements') version now months and months later is that A, he me with the right fist. . . . I would submit to you her injuries do not corroborate that statement.

2/12/15RP 125, 126. Defense counsel's decision not to object was part of a larger strategy to challenge the State's argument and the testimony of the State's witnesses in his own closing.

Even if defense counsel's performance was deficient for failing to object during the State's closing or to specific testimony from the State's witnesses, defendant is unable to show he was prejudiced by such inaction as required under the second prong of *Strickland*. The jury was repeatedly reminded to consider only the testimony and evidence that was presented during the trial and the law as instructed by the court and that they are the sole judges of the credibility of each witness.

All of this reflects that even if the failure to object was deficient, defendant cannot show how he was prejudiced by it. He is unable to satisfy either the first or second prong of the *Strickland* test.

3. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE REVIEW OF DEFENDANT'S FORFEITURE CONDITION BECAUSE THE RECORD IS INSUFFICIENT FOR REVIEW.

An illegal or erroneous sentence may be challenged for the first time on appeal. *State v. McWilliams*, 177 Wn. App. 139, 150, 311 P.3d 585 (2013) *review denied*, 179 Wn.2d 1020, 318 P.3d 279 (2014) (*citing State v. Ford*, 137 Wn.2d 472, 477, 973 P.2d 452 (1999)). The court reviews de novo whether the sentencing court had the statutory authority to impose a sentencing condition. *State v. Armendariz*, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007). However, if the record is insufficient for review, the court may decline to review a particular issue. *Washington Pub. Trust Advocates v. City of Spokane*, 120 Wn. App. 892, 898, 86 P.3d 835 (2004) (*citing Bulzomi v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 72 Wn. App. 522, 525, 864 P.2d 996 (1994)).

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